Life Sciences 89 (2011) 532-539

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Life Sciences



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/lifescie

Minireview

Glioblastoma cells: A heterogeneous and fatal tumor interacting with the parenchyma

Tercia Rodrigues Alves, Flavia Regina Souza Lima, Suzana Assad Kahn, Denise Lobo, Luiz Gustavo Feijó Dubois, Rossana Soletti, Helena Borges, Vivaldo Moura Neto*

Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 20 December 2010 Accepted 27 April 2011

Keywords: Glioblastoma Pathologic angiogenesis Neoplasm invasion Microglia Pore forming cytotoxic proteins Neoplastic stem cells

ABSTRACT

Glioblastomas (GBMs) are considered to be one of the deadliest human cancers, characterized by a high proliferative rate, aggressive invasiveness and insensitivity to radio- and chemotherapy, as well as a short patient survival period. Moreover, GBMs are among the most vascularized and invasive cancers in humans. Angiogenesis in GBMs is correlated with the grade of malignancy and is inversely correlated with patient survival. One of the first steps in tumor invasions is migration. GBM cells have the ability to infiltrate and disrupt physical barriers such as basement membranes, extracellular matrix and cell junctions. The invasion process includes the overexpression of several members of a super-family of zinc-based proteinases, the Metzincin, in particular a sub-group, metalloproteinases. Another interesting aspect is that, inside the GBM tissue, there are up to 30% of microglia or macrophages. However, little is known about the immune performance and interactions of the microglia with GBMs. These singular properties of GBMs will be described here. A sub-population of cells with stem-like properties may be the source of tumors since, apparently, GBM stem cells (GSCs) are highly resistant to current cancer treatments. These cancer therapies, while killing the majority of tumor cells, ultimately fail in GBM treatment because they do not eliminate GSCs, which survive to regenerate new tumors. Finally, GBM patient prognostic has shown little improvement in decades. In this context, we will discuss how the membrane-acting toxins called cytolysins can be a potential new tool for GBM treatment.

© 2011 Elsevier Inc. Open access under the Elsevier OA license.

Contents

Introduction	532
Glioblastoma vascularization	533
Glioblastoma invasion: molecular mechanisms	534
Microglia x glioblastoma interaction	534
Pore-forming proteins: a potential new class of chemotherapeutic drugs for GBM treatment	535
Glioblastomas and their heterogeneity	536
Conclusions and the future	537
Conflict of interest statement	537
Acknowledgment	537
References	537

Introduction

* Corresponding author at: Vivaldo Moura Neto. Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas, Bloco F, CCS, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Av. Carlos Chagas Filho, 373. Rio de Janeiro, CEP 21949-590, Brazil. Tel.: + 55 21 2562 6465; fax: + 55 21 2290 0587. E-mail address: vivaldo@anato.ufrj.br (V.M. Neto).

Glioblastoma (GBM) is the most common primary malignant glioma in adults and is characterized by a high mortality rate. Clinically, gliomas are divided into four grades and the most aggressive of these, grade IV astrocytoma or GBM, is also the most common in humans (Kleihues and Cavanee, 2000).The average survival of GBM patients from the time of diagnosis is less than a

^{0024-3205 © 2011} Elsevier Inc. Open access under the Elsevier OA license doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2011.04.022

year. Standard treatment comprises resection of the majority of the tumor mass, followed by chemotherapy and radiotherapy (Kanu et al., 2009; McCarthy, 2006; Minniti et al., 2009). However, this kind of tumor is usually highly invasive, making it extremely difficult to treat by total surgical resection or radiotherapy, which contributes to frequent recurrences and a very poor prognosis. Few anticancer drugs can modify the rapid tumor growth, and none is ultimately efficient. Therefore, most patients develop tumor recurrences or progressions after this combination of treatments (Kumar et al., 2008; Yang and Aghi, 2009). Transforming GBM into a treatable entity will require new paradigms in cancer biology and the understanding of the mechanisms underlying GBM invasion, treatment resistance and recurrence. Like most solid tumors, GBMs consist of heterogeneous cancer cells (Faria et al., 2006), as well as competent to recruit vasculature, inflammatory cells and interact with stromal elements (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). In this report, we will approach the interaction of GBMs with their rich tumor microenvironment. In this context, we will discuss GBM capability to interact with other cell types, to grow and invade other brain regions rapidly, as well as the possibility of using new drugs in GBM treatment and the relevance of glioblastoma stem cells (GSCs) regarding tumor progression.

Glioblastoma vascularization

The growth of solid tumors is limited to the emergence of new blood vessels (Folkman, 1972; Greene, 1961). In 1986, Dvorak classified solid tumors as wounds that do not heal, based on their requirement of the surrounding stroma to grow beyond a minimal diameter size, and also, with regard to their capability to induce a massive and continuous angiogenesis.

GBMs are among the most vascularized tumors in humans (Plate and Risau, 1995; Takano et al., 2010). In this type of tumor, malignity is often followed by endothelium proliferation (Daumas-Duport et al., 1988) and angiogenesis is correlated with aggressiveness, grade of malignancy and inversely correlated with patient survival. Indeed, the high microvessel density can be used as a prognostic postoperative indicator for patients with GBMs. Analyses from 93 sectioned formalin fixed paraffin embedded glioma samples specifically immunostained for von Willebrand factor showed a direct correlation between patients with shorter survival and higher microvessel counts, although the typical histopathological heterogeneity in GBMs could induce incorrect results (Leon et al., 1996). However, these proliferative GBM vessels exhibit abnormal morphology. Feigin et al. (1958) observed hyperplastic endothelial cells with neoplastic properties, forming a sarcomatous tissue intermingled with the pre-existing GBM mass. The endothelial cells possessed fairly large, plump, elongated or ovoid, vesicular, moderately chromatic nuclei, evidencing a high degree of variability and ultrastructural disorganization of the wall of small blood vessels (Nystrom, 1959). Morphological and phenotypical differences were observed in these vessels, such as variable diameters, permeability, tortuosity, heterogeneous distribution and an irregular basal lamina (Bart et al., 2000; Vajkoczy and Menger, 2004), including low VE-cadherin expression (Charalambous et al., 2006) and the absence of the tight junction proteins claudin-1 and -5 (Rascher et al., 2002). Moreover, endothelial cells from GBM express α -smooth muscle actin and exhibit a high proliferation and migratory capacity, and are also more resistant to apoptosis when compared to normal endothelial cells (Bian et al., 2006; Charalambous et al., 2006). All these features mentioned above result in sub-functional newly formed vessels (Bart et al., 2000; Vajkoczy and Menger, 2004) as summarized in Fig. 1. This abnormal vasculature is associated with thrombi and, consequently, with adjacent necrotic areas (Pietsch and Wiestler, 1997).

One possible explanation for this chaotic vascular organization is the overexpression of the VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) and poor pericyte recruitment (Bergers and Benjamin, 2003). The



Fig. 1. Abnormal vascularization in Glioblastomas (GBM). Endothelial cells, that nourish GBMs, present morphological and molecular aberrations. Overexpression of the VEGF and its receptor, VEGFR2, can induce VE-cadherin cytoplasmic domain phosphorylation, which disrupts cell-cell contact, which then contributes to vessel hypermeability. Moreover, low levels of VE-cadherin or even the absence of the cytoplasmic tight junction proteins, claudin-1 and claudin-5, may equally result in the formation of leaky vessels. Pericytes are involved in mature blood vessel establishment, and, in GBMs, their poor recruitment can explain the immature blood vessel morphology. When compared to normal endothelial brain cells, GBM endothelial cells are more proliferative and migratory, prerequisites for angiogenesis. Finally, the angioarchitecture in GBMs is disorganized and subfunctional. GBM endothelial cells present common features such as: variable diameter, hiperplasia, hyperpermeability, tortuosity, heterogeneous distribution, irregular basal lamina, low or absent flow and thrombi.

VEGF is one of the most studied molecules concerning angiogenesis and vessel permeability. In GBMs, the VEGF acts mainly as a hypoxiainducible angiogenic factor. *In situ* GBM analyses show that the VEGF production is specifically induced in a subset of tumoral cells in the immediate proximity of necrotic/hypoxic areas (Shweiki et al., 1992). The VEGF recognizes and binds to its receptor, the VEGFR2 (flk-1) on the endothelial cell surface, leading to subsequent phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic domain of VE-cadherin. Phosphorylated cadherins undo their homotypical interactions and then disconnect endothelial cells from each other. This cell–cell adhesion disruption results in augmented endothelial cell migration and an increase in vessel permeability (Esser et al., 1998).

It has been proposed that GBM angiogenesis begins with GBM vessel cooption. In murine models, the prolonged contact between tumor and vessels has been shown to lead to the disruption of normal endothelial layers (Zagzag et al., 2000). This subsequent hypoxic microenvironment would then be responsible for the induction of VEGF expression, which in turn would stimulate angiogenesis.

Since GBMs are mainly vascular tumors, one approach involves treatments directed to the inhibition of angiogenic mechanisms. Recently, the vessel normalization treatment, which targets the VEGF and/or VEGF receptors, has been proposed as an alternative for GBM treatment. After vessel normalization, the vascular structure and function is improved, with local hypoxia and vessel permeability decreasing and benefiting survival (Batchelor et al., 2007; Chae et al., 2010; Sorensen et al., 2009). However, this anti-angiogenic treatment seems to have its limitations. Although the reduction of cerebral edema and intracranial pressure in GBM patients are confirmed, the tumor apparently continues to grow even after being clinically silent (Verhoeff et al., 2009).

Our knowledge regarding the molecular events guiding GBM sustained angiogenesis has greatly increased in the last 40 years. However, it is clear that basic research is essential for better clinical results in GBM patients.

Glioblastoma invasion: molecular mechanisms

One of the first steps in tumor invasion is migration (Egeblad and Werb, 2002). Tumor cells move by extending their leading edges, following directed locomotion upon cellular contraction and rear release (Wolf and Friedl, 2006). GBMs exhibit characteristic migrating cells from the main tumor mass towards the neighboring normal tissue. The malignant cells have the ability to infiltrate and degrade physical barriers, such as basement membranes, extracellular matrix (ECM), and cell junctions.

The invasion process includes the overexpression of several members of a super family of zinc-based proteinases, the Metzincin, of which metalloproteinases (MMPs) are a part of. In particular, gelatinases MMP-2 and MMP-9 are expressed by glioma cells in human brain-tissue samples. However, it has been reported that it is the endothelial cells forming the connective framework for solid tumors that express MMP-2 and MMP-9, which, in turn, could be confiscated by malignant cell receptors (Forsyth et al., 1999). Moreover, active MMP-2 modulates glioma cell migration (Deryugina et al., 1997). In GBMs, another important subfamily within the Metzincin are the ADAMs (metalloproteinases with a disintegrin domain) and the related ADAMTSs, which have additional thrombospondin domains, (Held-Feindt et al., 2006). The tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMP-1, -2, -3, and 4) in contrast, modulate the MMPs proteolytic activity by forming complexes with these endopeptidases. The addition of TIMP-2 and specific antibodies against MMP-9 has reduced the invasion of glioma cells in vitro (Rao et al., 1994; VanMeter et al., 2001).

Once secreted into the ECM, the MMPs can be activated even by other active MMPs or serine proteases, by a process called the "cysteine switch", that removes or modifies the propeptide domain and ruptures the coordination bond formed between a catalytic zinc ion and a cysteine prodomain, thus changing the enzyme conformation to an active proteolytic form (Sternlicht and Werb, 2001). These proteases selectively degrade the ECM components and also establish and maintain the surrounding microenvironment, facilitating tumorcell survival (Rao, 2003). They are involved in shedding activities and the cleavage of ECM molecules and transmembrane proteins. MMP activity, therefore, comprises the solubilization of cytokine, growth factor, receptor and adhesion molecule ectodomains, thus placing them in pivotal positions in relation to the extracellular regulation of cellular signaling (Murphy, 2008). In fact, as observed by Kessenbrock et al. (2010), MMPs can modulate processes that control cell growth, invasion, metastatic niches, inflammation, cell survival, adipogenesis or angiogenesis and may even act in a nonproteolytic manner.

Efforts to elucidate the molecular mechanisms responsible for the invasion of glioma cells have confirmed not only MMP activity but also integrin participation (Goldbrunner et al., 1998; Teodorczyk and Martin-Villalba, 2010). It has been shown that alpha_v-beta₃ integrin can directly bind to active MMP-2, thereby concentrating this protease on the tumor cell surface (Brooks et al., 1996), and that this interaction may be crucial for cell invasive behavior (Rupp et al., 2008). As suggested by Uhm et al. (1999), the alpha_v-beta₃ integrin serves as a physical link between the tumor cells and the ECM for cell locomotion, also providing the tumor cells with the ability to concentrate and regulate protease function, thus modulating the infiltrative capacity of malignant cells.

Another molecule directly involved with integrins and MMPs in glioma cell invasiveness is the Transforming Growth Factor- β (TGF- β) (Platten et al., 2000). Before reaching the membrane receptors and activating the canonical and noncanonical signaling pathways, the human inactive forms of the TGF-B1, TGF-B2 and TGF-B3 molecules are released into the ECM. The TGF- β molecule is composed of a dimeric active part, a dimeric latency-associated protein (LAP), and a latent-TGF- β -binding protein (LTBP) bound to the ECM (Annes et al., 2003). Active TGF- β is derived from the inactive proprotein through the proteolytic conversion by furin or other proteinases, such as MMP-9 (Yu and Stamenkovic, 2000). Wick et al. (2001) reported the upregulation of MMP-2 in the presence of increasing concentrations of exogenous TGF-B2 in GBMs. It has been shown that MMP-2 and MMP-9 expression can be modulated by TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2, as well as by other growth factors, in GBM cell lines (Rooprai et al., 2000). In conclusion, the process of GBM cell invasion and dispersion can be modulated by the TGF-B ability to regulate integrins and MMP expression.

Microglia x glioblastoma interaction

In the tumoral microenvironment, the idea that GBMs contain particularly high levels of infiltrated microglia leads to the hypothesis that the microglia should present anti-tumoral activity. However, reports have suggested that the microglia in GBM sites provide an immunosuppressive environment, contributing to tumor progression (Daginakatte et al., 2008; Graeber et al., 2002; Kostianovsky et al., 2008). According to these studies, the accumulation of microglia in GBMs is the result of the local production of chemo-attractant factors produced by GBM cells, as the monocyte chemotactic protein-1 - MCP-1 (Platten et al., 2003; Prat et al., 2000). Microglial growth factors such as colony stimulating factors and the hepatocyte growth factor/ scatter factor (HGF/SF) are also secreted by glioma and stimulate microglial proliferation at the lesion site (Alterman and Stanley, 1994; Badie et al., 1999). Furthermore, glioma cells also produce antiinflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-6 (IL-6) and TGF- β 2. In particular, TGF-B2 inhibits the proliferation and secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by microglia (Hao et al., 2002; Parney et al., 2000). On the other hand, microglia are a source of MMPs. Their release



Fig. 2. Microglial cells migrate, through the corpus callosum, from the contralateral hemisphere to the ipsilateral hemisphere, where the GBM was xenotransplanted. The tumor was produced from GBM cells injected into the caudate putamen of mouse brains as previously described (Zhao et al., 2008). In this study, we used the human tumor cell line GBM95, established in our lab (Faria et al., 2006). After 15 days, the brains were perfused with fixative 4% paraformaldehyde, cut into slices and the microglial cells were stained with isolectin B4 (IB4, arrowheads). A: corpus callosum; B: ipsilateral hemisphere, note strong staining for IB4 in tumor mass. CTX = cortex, CC = corpus callosum, HIP = hippocampus, G = gliosis, HT = healthy tissue, TV = third ventricle, and TM = tumor mass. Bar: 100 μ m.

at the lesion site facilitates the proliferation and migration of tumor cells and increases the progression and invasion of tumors in the brain parenchyma (Rao et al., 2003). In this sense, Markovic et al. (2009), using in vivo and in vitro mouse models, have demonstrated that Membrane-Type-1 MMP (MT1-MMP) is up-regulated in gliomaassociated microglia, but not in the GBM cells themselves. Gliomareleased factors trigger the expression and activation of MT1-MMP via microglial toll-like receptors and the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. Consequently, microglial MT1-MMP, in turn, activates glioma-derived pro-MMP-2 and promotes glioma expansion (Markovic et al., 2009). The microglia also secretes factors that promote tumor proliferation, including the epidermal growth factor (EGF) and the VEGF (Lafuente et al., 1999; Tsai et al., 1995). The enzyme cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 is found abundantly in microglia isolated from GBMs, which increases the production of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) and contributes to the development of cerebral edema in GBMs (Badie et al., 2003). In another inflammatory scenario, as infection by parasite (Rozenfeld et al., 2003) or by bilirubin-induced reactive microglia (Silva et al., 2010), for instance, the microglia response is also COX-2/PGE2 production and this could suggest a general microglia response during inflammation. Furthermore, a study using oncolytic virotherapy showed that, when macrophages/microglia are depleted in brain slices *ex vivo*, the intratumoral oncolytic viral titer increases 10-fold (Fulci et al., 2007), suggesting that phagocytosis mediated by these infiltrating macrophages directly affects viral clearance from the tumor. According to these studies, microglia have a key role both in the progression and invasion of GBMs.

Microglia may rapidly recruit, invade and infect GBM sites to participate in the destiny of glioblastomas as well as illustrated in Fig. 2. This Figure shows microglial cells crossing the corpus callosum from a contralateral hemisphere to invade a glioblastoma in an ipsilateral hemisphere. At first, infiltrated microglia acts by defending the brain parenchyma from the tumor (Galarneau et al., 2007; Synowitz et al., 2006); however the consequences of microglial recruitment depend not only on the microglia but also on the interaction of these cells with the microenvironment, where other cell components, including glioma cells, have an important role. According to Ghosh and Chaudhuri (2010), microglial pro-glioma action might just be a passive mode of assistance used by neoplastic cells into the central nervous system (CNS). Microglia, the CNS defense cells, when activated by gliomas, secrete a range of factors, such as MMPs, to degrade the ECM and arrive faster at the lesion site. However, glioma cells utilize this strategy in their own favor, to invade and expand into the brain parenchyma. Thus, microglia intend to fight against glioma, but lose control of the situation, favoring tumor progression (Ghosh and Chaudhuri, 2010). A better understanding regarding the activities of these CNS defense cells is essential in order to establish effective strategies to combat malignant gliomas (Ghosh and Chaudhuri, 2010; Kostianovsky et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2010).

Pore-forming proteins: a potential new class of chemotherapeutic drugs for GBM treatment

Despite the progress in cancer treatment and the consequent improvement in survival rates, only modest advancements in the treatment of GBMs have occurred in the last decades. To overcome this picture, new therapeutic strategies against the highly proliferative activity of GBM cells have been studied and new molecules acting against tumoral proliferation have been researched. Despite the use of flavonoids and other natural toxins, an unexpected molecule, the Stress-inducible protein 1 (STI1), also referred as hop (Hsp70/Hsp90 organizing protein) plays a role in the glioblastoma proliferation. It is a 66 kDa protein first identified in yeast and originally described as a cochaperone that binds to both Hsp70 and Hsp90, and regulates their activities (Chen and Smith, 1998; Nicolet and Craig, 1989; Song and Masison, 2005). We demonstrated that STI1 is produced and delivered by normal astrocytes (Lima et al., 2007) and glioblastoma cells. In the culture medium this molecule is competent to induce the proliferation of human glioblastoma, but not efficient to proliferate normal astrocytes and human breast cancer cells and this effect is mediated by the MAPK and PI3K signaling pathways (Erlich et al., 2007).

We have also tried a flavonoid against glioblastoma proliferation. Isoquercitrin, a flavonoid isolated from the aerial parts of *Hyptis fasciculata*, decreased GBM proliferation up to 90% without inducing apoptosis of the tumoral cells in culture, modulating the control of the cell cycle. The β -catenin-mediated signaling may be involved on this antiproliferative activity of Isoquercitrin (Amado et al., 2009). Similar results were obtained using curcumin, a curcuminoid derived from the rhizome of *Curcuma longa* (Senft et al., 2010). Another class of natural compounds, the cytolysins, do not need to be internalized to produce its cytotoxic effects (Parker and Feil, 2005). These proteins, produced by a large number of organisms, form pores in biological

536 Table 1

Equinatoxin-II (EqTx-II) increases chemotherapeutic drugs-induced cytotoxicity against U87 GBM cell line.

Chemotherapeutic drug	IC ₃₀ (µmol/l)	+ EqTx-II	
		IC ₃₀	Ratio
-	_	8.5 μg/ml	-
Cytosine arabinoside	8.4	0.5 µmol/l	17
Doxorubicin	7.7	0.8 µmol/l	9.6
Vincristine	0.3	0.001 µmol/l	300

 IC_{30} values were determined by linear regression from individual experiments using GraphPad software (GraphPad software Inc., San Diego, California, USA).

 $Ratio = IC_{30}$ from the chemotherapeutic drug/IC₃₀ from the combination of chemotherapeutic drug + EqTx-II.

membranes, resulting in cell death (Parker and Feil, 2005). Despite being cytotoxic against many types of cancer cells per se, cytolysins could also be conjugated to other drugs to selectively kill cancer cells or improve the local delivery of chemotherapeutics.

We have studied the anti-proliferative action of two sea anemone cytolysins, toxin Bc2 (isolated from the Brazilian sea anemone Bunodosoma caissarum) and equinatoxin-II (EqTx-II a gift from Anderluh, G.; isolated from Actinia equina) against GBM cell lines in culture. Toxin Bc2 and EqTx-II decreased cell viability and increased lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release in a concentration-dependent manner (Soletti et al., 2008, 2010a). The pre-treatment with mitogenactivated/extracellular regulated kinase (MEK1), protein kinase C (PKC) or Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CaMKII) inhibitors blocked the toxic effects of toxin Bc2 and EqTx-II (Soletti et al., 2010a). Swollen, dead or dying cells were negative for TUNEL-staining, suggesting that sea anemona cytolysins induced necrotic-like cell death by activating those intracellular signaling pathways (Soletti et al., 2010a). These results are comparable to those obtained using gomesin, a pore-forming peptide from hemocytes of the spider Acanthoscurria gomesiana, that induced cytotoxicity in human neuroblastoma cells through MAPK/ERK, phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) and PKC signaling pathways (Soletti et al., 2010b).

Since cancer cells show changes in membrane lipid composition (Lavie and Liscovitch, 2000) and pore-forming cytolysins require high levels of sphingomyelin or cholesterol for membrane binding and permeabilization (Alegre-Cebollada et al., 2006), toxin Bc2 (1 μ g/ml) and EqTx-II (10 μ g/ml) were significantly more toxic to GBM cells, when compared to astrocytes in culture (Soletti et al., 2008).

Moreover, non-cytotoxic concentrations of EqTx-II (0.3 mg/ml) were able to enhance the cytotoxicity induced by the classic anticancer agents cytosine arabinoside, doxorubicin, and vincristine on glioblastoma cell lines, as summarized in Table 1. Vincristine, a microtubule disturbing agent, showed a high potential in killing GBM cells (up to 300-fold) with increased number of apoptotic and disturbed mitotic-like figures, which is a characteristic of vincristine

treated cultures. Since sea anemone cytolysins form oligomeric transmembrane pores with 1–2 nm of diameter (Anderluh et al., 2003), it is possible to increase cell permeability to small molecules up to vincristine size (Soletti et al., 2008).

Therefore, both in high concentrations and in non-cytotoxic concentrations, as well as in combination with classic chemotherapeutic drugs, pore-forming proteins are a potential new drug class for treating GBMs.

Glioblastomas and their heterogeneity

In the late nineteenth century, scientists suggested that an exceptional population of cells with stem-like properties might be the source of tumors (Cohnheim, 1867, 1875; Durante, 1874). Although frequently present in small numbers, cancer stem cells (CSC) have the ability to originate tumors when xenotransplanted into animals, whereas the remaining non-CSC tumor mass most often cannot (Jordan et al., 2006; Wicha et al., 2006). Moreover, it has been found that GSCs have a high tumorigenic potential and a low proliferation rate and present some phenotypical similarities with normal stem cells, such as the CD133 gene expression and other genes commonly expressed in neural stem cells (Tirino et al., 2008). Furthermore, it has been reported that multidrug resistanceassociated proteins, as well as P-glycoprotein, conferring multidrug resistance proteins (MDR) are currently associated with glioblastoma malignance. In fact, multidrug resistance in gliomas is the major challenge in clinical settings. We investigated the expression of Pglycoprotein (Pgp) and multidrug resistance-related protein 1 (MRP1) in 50 gliomas using immunohistochemistry (de Faria et al., 2008). Compared to Pgp, MRP1 positivity was observed in highest percentage of glioblastoma than other lower grade of gliomas. In the other hand, gliomas grade II exhibited a more important expression of Pgp if compared to grades III and IV (glioblastoma). These results suggest that the difference between the histological grade gliomas regarding MRP1 and Pgp expression must have implications in the choice of chemotherapeutic protocols (de Faria et al., 2008). However, looking to cancer stem-like cells obtained from human glioblastoma, defined as tumorospheres, was reported higher expression of these proteins when compared with primary adherent cells derived from the same tumor (Shervington and Lu, 2008).

Particularly, the higher expression of multidrug resistanceassociated proteins 1 and 3 was observed when compared with primary adherent cells derived from the same tumor (Salmaggi et al., 2006). Taken these data together it seems possible to hypothesize that MDR proteins family with complementary studies would improve our prospects for developing effective glioma treatments.

The malignant glioma resistance to radiation and chemotherapy, evokes the aggressive study of the molecular mechanisms underlying cancer cell survival and expansion (Dean et al., 2005; Diehn et al., 2009; Eyler and Rich, 2008). The importance of targeting CSC derives



Fig. 3. GBM stem cells (GSCs) express βIII-tubulin and SOX2. Immunocytochemistry analysis of βIII-tubulin (neuronal marker) and SOX2 (stem cell marker) expression in a cancer stem cell line derived from primary cultures of adult human glioblastoma. Images were observed in an Axioplan 2 epifluorescence microscope (Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany). Bar: 10 μm.

from several observations showing that CSC, in addition to having increased tumor-seeding potential, are resistant to a variety of chemotherapy drugs and radiation treatment. This suggests that, as chemo- and radiation therapies fail to completely eradicate the disease, the residual cancer cells will be highly enriched for cells that persist in a CSC state. Therefore, these considerations indicate that, to be effective in the long-term, cancer therapies should include agents that target CSC to prevent the regrowth of neoplastic cell populations.

The development of cancer therapeutic strategies is restricted by the fact that most potential treatments perturb organ function by themselves, exhibiting negative side effects, which currently preclude its clinical application. So far, no effective pharmacological approach to selectively eliminate gCSC has been developed for practical use in clinical settings.

Although the origin of GSCs has not yet been unveiled, these cells have been described by several groups (Galli et al., 2004; Singh et al., 2004; Patru et al., 2010). GSCs are functionally defined by their selfrenewal potential that can be confirmed by serial neurosphere (Fig. 3) formation assay and tumor propagation by intracranial xenotransplantation. Besides, GSCs have been shown to differentiate into astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and neurons (Galli et al., 2004; Singh et al., 2004;), as well as modulating immune responses (Wei et al., 2010), dispersing into new locations (Hoelzinger et al., 2007; Inoue et al., 2010) and supporting tumor neovasculature through angiogenesis promotion (Bao et al., 2006; Weller, 2010). We have differentiated stem cells from a human glioblastoma, isolated by neurosurgery from patients, into astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and neuron using oncospheres and soluble factors added to the cultures. Interestingly, some of these GSC show double staining, to GFAP and Neurofilament which could suggest a profil of a described malignant glioneuronal tumor (MGNT). This tumoral entity might arise from mutated neural stem cells in combination with aberrant environmental signals (Varlet et al., 2004; Patru et al., 2010).

All data above show that tumoral stem cells (TSC) are pointout as a new necessary target to anti-cancer therapy and the elucidation of TSC properties needs of more research to walk against the tumor.

Conclusions and the future

GBMs are the most malignant tumors with an astrocytic lineage. Despite a substantial increase in cancer research, which has led to the development of treatments for some solid human cancers, no therapies have been effective in treating these tumors. The potential of cytolisins as new chemotherapeutic drugs discussed in the present paper may be a way to fight GBMs. Our intention was to bring into debate some relevant properties of this kind of tumor, such as the presence of GSCs and their possible involvement in tumor growth. The resistance to chemotherapy and the processes of angiogenesis and invasiveness developed by the tumors may be due to these GSCs, as well as the GBM ability to induce microglia cooperation in tumor progression. Deregulation of signal transduction, which accounts for aberrant responses to distinct soluble factors, is also a common feature of these tumors, and modulation of signaling pathways has become an option for targeted therapies (Sebolt-Leopold and Herrera, 2004). There is an urgent need to research treatments that could control the growth and invasion of GBMs in the cerebral parenchyma. A better understanding about the properties of GBMs and the interactions of this type of tumor with its microenvironment is essential to establish effective strategies in the combat of malignant gliomas.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgment

This work was supported by Fundação Carlos Chagas Filho de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio de Janeiro (FAPERJ); National Institute for Translational Neuroscience from National Institute for Science and Techonology (INCT)-CNPq; Fundação Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES); PhD-Program on Morphological Sciences.

References

- Alegre-Cebollada J, Rodriguez-Crespo I, Gavilanes JG, del Pozo AM. Detergent-resistant membranes are platforms for actinoporin pore-forming activity on intact cells. FEBS J 2006;273:863–71.
- Alterman RL, Stanley ER. Colony stimulating factor-1 expression in human glioma. Mol Chem Neuropathol 1994;21:177–88.
- Amado NG, Cerqueira DM, Menezes FS, da Silva JF, Neto VM, Abreu JG. Isoquercitrin isolated from *Hyptis fasciculata* reduces glioblastoma cell proliferation and changes beta-catenin cellular localization. Anticancer Drugs 2009;20:543–52.
- Anderluh G, Serra MD, Viero G, Guella G, Macek P, Menestrina G. Pore formation by equinatoxin II, a eukaryotic protein toxin, occurs by induction of nonlamellar structures. J Biol Chem 2003;278:45216–23.
- Annes J, Munger JS, Rifkin D. Making sense of latent TGF-β activation. J Cell Sci 2003;116:217–24.
- Badie B, Schartner J, Klaver J, Vorpahl J. In vitro modulation of microglia motility by glioma cells is mediated by hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. Neurosurgery 1999;44:1077–82.
- Badie B, Schartner JM, Hagar AR, Prabakaran S, Peebles TR, Bartley B, et al. Microglia cyclooxygenase-2 activity in experimental gliomas: possible role in cerebral edema formation. Clin Cancer Res 2003;9:872–7.
- Bao S, Wu Q, Sathornsumetee S, Hao Y, Li Z, Hjelmeland AB, et al. Stem cell-like glioma cells promote tumor angiogenesis through vascular endothelial growth factor. Cancer Res 2006;16:7843–8.
- Bart J, Groen HJ, Hendrikse NH, van der Graaf WT, Vaalburg W, de Vries EG. The bloodbrain barrier and oncology: new insights into function and modulation. Cancer Treat Rev 2000;26:449–62.
- Batchelor TT, Sorensen AG, di Tomaso E, Zhang WT, Duda DG, Cohen KS, et al. AZD2171, a pan-VEGF receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, normalizes tumor vasculature and alleviates edema in glioblastoma patients. Cancer Cell 2007;11:83–95.
- Bergers G, Benjamin LE. Tumorigenesis and the angiogenic switch. Nature Rev 2003;3: 401–10.
- Bian XW, Jiang XF, Chen JH, Bai JS, Dai C, Wang QL, et al. Increased angiogenic capabilities of endothelial cells from microvessels of malignant human gliomas. Int Immunopharmacol 2006;6:90–9.
- Brooks PC, Strömblad S, Sanders LC, von Schalscha TL, Aimes RT, Stetler-Stevenson WG, et al. Localization of matrix metalloproteinase MMP-2 to the surface of invasive cells by interaction with integrin alpha v beta 3. Cell 1996;85:683–93.
- Chen S, Smith DF. Hop as an adaptor in the heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) and hsp90 chaperone machinery. | Biol Chem 1998;273:35194–200.
- Chae SS, Kamoun WS, Farrar CT, Kirkpatrick ND, Niemeyer E, de Graaf AM, et al. Angiopoietin-2 interferes with anti-VEGFR2-induced vessel normalization and survival benefit in mice bearing gliomas. Clin Cancer Res 2010;16:3618–27.
- Charalambous C, Chen TC, Hofman FM. Characteristics of tumor-associated endothelial cells derived from glioblastoma multiforme. Neurosurg Focus 2006;20:1–5.
- Cohnheim J. Ueber entzundung und eiterung. Path Anat Physiol Klin Med 1867:40.
- Cohnheim J. Congenitales, quergestreiftes Muskelsarkon der Nireren. Virchows Arch 1875:65.
- Daginakatte GC, Gianino SM, Zhao NW, Parsadanian AS, Gutmann DH. Increased c-Jun-NH2-kinase signaling in neurofibromatosis-1 heterozygous microglia drives microglia activation and promotes optic glioma proliferation. Cancer Res 2008;68:10358–66.
- Daumas-Duport C, Scheithauer B, O'Fallon J, Kelly P. Grading of astrocytomas. A simple and reproducible method. Cancer 1988;62:2152–65.
- de Faria GP, de Oliveira JAP, Romano SO, Moura-Neto V, Maia RC. Differences in the expression of P-glycorotein and MRP1 in low-grade and high-grade gliomas. Cancer Invest 2008;26:883–9.
- Dean M, Fojo T, Bates S. Tumour stem cells and drug resistance. Nat Rev Cancer 2005;5: 275–84.
- Deryugina El, Bourdon MA, Luo GX, Reisfeld RA, Strongin A. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 activation modulates glioma cell migration. J Cell Sci 1997;110:2473–82.

Diehn M, Cho RW, Lobo NA, Kalisky T, Dorie MJ, Kulp AN, et al. Association of reactive oxygen species levels and radioresistance in cancer stem cells. Nature 2009;458:780–3.

- Durante F. Nesso fisio-pathologico tra la struttura dei mei materni e la genesi di aleuni tumori maligni. Arch Memor Observ Chir Pract 1874:11.
- Dvorak HF. Tumors: wounds that do not heal. Similarities between tumor stroma generation and wound healing. N Engl J Med 1986;315:1650–9.
- Egeblad M, Werb Z. New functions for the matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression. Nature Rev Cancer 2002;2:161–74.
- Erlich RD, Kahn SA, Lima FR, Muras AG, Martins RA, Linden R, et al. STI1 promotes glioma proliferation through MAPK and PI3K pathways. Glia 2007;55:1690–8.
- Esser S, Lampugnani MG, Corada M, Dejana E, Risau W. Vascular endothelial growth factor induces VE-cadherin tyrosine phosphorylation in endothelial cells. J Cell Sci 1998;111:1853–65.

Eyler CE, Rich JN. Survival of the fittest: cancer stem cells in therapeutic resistance and angiogenesis. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:2839–45.

- Faria J, Romão L, Martins S, Alves T, Mendes FA, de Faria GP, et al. Interactive properties of human glioblastoma cells with brain neurons in culture and neuronal modulation of glial lminin organization. Differentiation 2006;74:562–72.
- Feigin I, Allen LB, Lipkin L, Gross SW. The endothelial hyperplasia of the cerebral blood vessels with brain tumors, and its sarcomatous transformation. Cancer 1958;11: 264–77.
- Forsyth PA, Wong H, Laing TD, Rewcastle NB, Morris DG, Muzik H, et al. Gelatinase-A (MMP-2), gelatinase-B (MMP-9) and membrane type matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MT1-MMP) are involved in different aspects of the pathophysiology of malignant gliomas. Br J Cancer 1999;79:1828–35.
- Folkman J. Anti-angiogenesis: new concept for therapy of solid tumors. Ann Surg 1972;175:409–16.
- Fulci G, Dmitrieva N, Gianni D, Fontana EJ, Pan X, Lu Y, et al. Depletion of peripheral macrophages and brain microglia increases brain tumor titers of oncolytic viruses. Cancer Res 2007;67:9398–406.
- Galarneau H, Villeneuve J, Gowing G, Julien JP, Vallières L. Increased glioma growth in mice depleted of macrophages. Cancer Res 2007;67:8874–81.
- Galli R, Binda E, Orfanelli U, Cipelletti B, Gritti A, De Vitis S, et al. Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma. Cancer Res 2004;64:7011–21.
- Ghosh A, Chaudhuri S. Microglial action in glioma: a boon turns bane. Immunol Lett 2010;131:3–9.
- Goldbrunner RH, Bernstein JJ, Tonn JC. ECM-mediated glioma cell invasion. Microsc Res Tech 1998;43:250–7.
- Graeber MB, Scheithauer BW, Kreutzberg GW. Microglia in brain tumors. Glia 2002;40: 252–9.

Greene HSN. Heterologous transplantation of mammalian tumors. J Exp Med 1961;73:461. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000;100:57–70.

- Hao AJ, Dheen ST, Ling EA. Expression of macrophage colony-stimulating factor and its receptor in microglia activation is linked to teratogen-induced neuronal damage. Neuroscience 2002;112:889–900.
- Held-Feindt J, Paredes EB, Blömer U, Seidenbecher C, Stark AM, Mehdorn HM, et al. Matrix-degrading proteases ADAMTS4 and ADAMTS5 (disintegrins and metalloproteinases with thrombospondin motifs 4 and 5) are expressed in human glioblastomas. Int J Cancer 2006;118:55–61.

Hoelzinger DB, Demuth T, Berens ME. Autocrine factors that sustain glioma invasion and paracrine biology in the brain microenvironment. J Natl Cancer Inst 2007;21:1583–93.

- Inoue A, Takahashi H, Harada H, Kohno S, Ohue S, Kobayashi K, et al. Cancer stem-like cells of glioblastoma characteristically express MMP-13 and display highly invasive activity. Int J Oncol 2010;37:1121–31.
- Jordan CT, Guzman ML, Noble M. Cancer stem cells. N Engl J Med 2006;355:1253–61. Kanu OO, Mehta A, Di C, Lin N, Bortoff K, Bigner DD, et al. Glioblastoma multiforme: a
- review of therapeutic targets. Expert Opin Ther Targets 2009;13:701–71. Kleihues P, Cavanee WK. World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the
- Nervous System. Lyon: IARC/WHO; 2000. Kumar HR, Zhong X, Sandoval JA, Hickey RJ, Malkas LH. Applications of emerging
- molecular technologies in glioblastoma multiforme. Expert Rev Neurother 2008;8: 1497–506.
- Kostianovsky AM, Maier LM, Anderson RC, Bruce JN, Anderson DE. Astrocytic regulation of human monocytic/microglial activation. J Immunol 2008;181:5425–32.
- Lafuente JV, Adán B, Alkiza K, Garibi JM, Rossi M, Cruz-Sánchez FF. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and platelet-derived growth factor receptor-beta (PDGFR-beta) in human gliomas. J Mol Neurosci 1999;13: 177–85.
- Lavie Y, Liscovitch M. Changes in lipid and protein constituents of rafts and caveolae in multidrug resistant cancer cells and their functional consequences. Glycoconj J 2000;17:253–9.
- Leon SP, Folkerth RD, Black PM. Microvessel density is a prognostic indicator for patients with astroglial brain tumors. Cancer 1996;77:362–72.
- Lima FRS, Arantes CP, Muras AG, Nomizo R, Brentani RR, Martins VR. Cellular prion protein expression in astrocytes modulates neuronal survival and differentiation. J Neurochem 2007;103:2164–76.
- Markovic DS, Vinnakota K, Chirasani S, Synowitz M, Raguet H, Stock K, et al. Gliomas induce and exploit microglial MT1-MMP expression for tumor expansion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:12530–5.
- Kessenbrock K, Plaks V, Werb Z. Matrix metalloproteinases: regulators of the tumor microenvironment. Cell 2010;141:52–67.
- McCarthy N. Tumour stem cells: rooting out resistance. Nature Rev Cancer 2006;6: 904–5.
- Minniti G, Muni R, Lanzetta G, Marchetti P, Enrici RM. Chemotherapy for glioblastoma: current treatment and future perspectives for cytotoxic and targeted agents. Anticancer Res 2009;12:5171–84.
- Murphy G. The ADAMs: signalling scissors in the tumour microenvironment. Nature Rev Cancer 2008;8:929–41.
- Nicolet CM, Craig EA. Isolation and characterization of STI1, a stress-inducible gene from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol 1989;1989(9):3638–46.
- Nystrom S. Electron microscopical structure of the wall of small blood vessels in human multiform glioblastoma. Nature 1959;184:65.
- Parker MW, Feil SC. Pore-forming protein toxins: from structure to function. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 2005;88:91–142.
- Parney IF, Hao C, Petruk KC. Glioma immunology and immunotherapy. Neurosurgery 2000;46:778–91.
- Patru C, Romao L, Varlet P, Coulombel L, Raponi E, Cadusseau J, et al. CD133, CD15/SSEA-1, CD34 or side populations do not resume tumor-initiating properties of long-term

cultured cancer stem cells from human malignant glio-neuronal tumors. BMC Cancer 2010;1:66.

- Pietsch T, Wiestler OD. Molecular neuropathology of astrocytic brain tumors. J Neurooncol 1997;35:211–22.
- Plate KH, Risau W. Angiogenesis in malignant gliomas. Glia 1995;15:339-47.
- Platten M, Wick W, Wild-Bode C, Aulwurm S, Dichgans J, Weller M. Transforming growth factors beta(1) and TGF-beta(2) promote glioma cell migration via Upregulation of alpha(V)beta(3) integrin expression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000;268:607–11.
- Platten M, Kretz A, Naumann U, Aulwurm S, Egashira K, Isenmann S, et al. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 increases microglial infiltration and aggressiveness of gliomas. Ann Neurol 2003;54:388–92.
- Prat E, Baron P, Meda L, Scarpini E, Galimberti D, Ardolino G, et al. The human astrocytoma cell line U373MG produces monocyte chemotactic protein (MCP)-1 upon stimulation with beta-amyloid protein. Neurosci Lett 2000;283:177–80.
- Rao JS, Steck PA, Tofilon P, Boyd D, Ali-Osman F, Stetler-Stevenson WG, et al. Role of plasminogen activator and of 92-kDa type IV collagenase in glioblastoma invasion using an in vitro matrigel model. J Neurooncol 1994;18:129–38.
- Rao JS. Molecular mechanisms of glioma invasiveness: the role of proteases. Nature Rev Cancer 2003;3:489–501.
- Rao RD, Uhm JH, Krishnan S, James CD. Genetic and signaling pathway alterations in glioblastoma: relevance to novel targeted therapies. Front Biosci 2003;8:e270–80.
- Rascher G, Fischmann A, Kroger S, Duffner F, Grote EH, Wolburg H. Extracellular matrix and the blood-brain barrier in glioblastoma multiforme: spatial segregation of tenascin and agrin. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 2002;104:85–91.
- Rooprai HK, Rucklidge GJ, Panou C, Pilkington GJ. The effects of exogenous growth factors on matrix metalloproteinase secretion by human brain tumour cells. Br J Cancer 2000;82:52–5.
- Rozenfeld C, Martinez R, Figueiredo R, Bozza MT, Lima F, Pires AL, et al. Soluble factors released by *Toxoplasma gondii*-infected astrocytes down-modulate nitric oxide production by gamma interferon-activated microglia and prevent neuronal degeneration. Infect Immun USA 2003;71:2047–57.
- Rupp PA, Visconti RP, Czirók A, Cheresh DA, Little CD. MMP2-Integrin $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 binding is required for mesenchymal cell invasive activity but not epithelial locomotion: a computational time-lapse study. Mol Biol Cell 2008;19:5529–40.
- Salmaggi A, Boiardi A, Gelati M, Russo A, Calatozzolo C, Ciusani E, et al. Glioblastomaderived tumorospheres identify a population of tumor stem-like cells with angiogenic potential and enhanced multidrug resistance phenotype. Glia 2006;54:850–60.
- Sebolt-Leopold JS, Herrera R. Targeting the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade to treat cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2004;4:937–47.
- Shervington A, Lu C. Expression of multidrug resistance genes in normal and cancer stem cells. Cancer Invest 2008;26:535–42.
- Shweiki D, Itin A, Soffer D, Keshet E. Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis. Nature 1992;359:843–5.
- Silva SL, Vaz AR, Barateiro A, Falcão AS, Fernandes A, Brito MA, et al. Features of bilirubin-induced reactive microglia: from phagocytosis to inflammation. Neurobiol Dis 2010;40:663–75.
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 2004;432:396–401.
- Senft C, Polacin M, Priester M, Seifert V, Kögel D, Weissenberger J. The nontoxic natural compound Curcumin exerts anti-proliferative, anti-migratory, and anti-invasive properties against malignant gliomas. BMC Cancer 2010;10:491–9.
- Soletti RC, Faria GP, Vernal J, Terenzi H, Anderluh G, Borges HL, et al. Potentiation of anticancer-drug cytotoxicity by sea anemone pore-forming proteins in human glioblastoma cells. Anticancer Drugs 2008;19:519–25.
- Soletti RC, Vernal J, Terenzi H, Leal RB, Borges HL, Gabilan NH, Moura Neto V. Sea anemone cytolysins induce human glioma cell death through MAPK/ERK and PKC pathways. Anticancer Res 2010a;30:1209–15.
- Soletti RC, Del Barrio L, Borges HL, Moura Neto V, Miranda A, Daffre S, et al. The antimicrobial peptide gomesin induced cytotoxicity on human neuroblastoma cells through MAPK/ERK, PI3K and PKC signaling pathways. Chem Biol Interact 2010b;186:135–43.
- Song Y, Masison DC. Independent regulation of Hsp70 and Hsp90 chaperones by Hsp70/Hsp90-organizing protein Sti1 (Hop1). J Biol Chem 2005;2005(280): 34178–85.
- Sorensen AG, Batchelor TT, Zhang WT, Chen PJ, Yeo P, Wang M, et al. A "vascular normalization index" as potential mechanistic biomarker to predict survival after a single dose of cediranib in recurrent glioblastoma patients. Cancer Res 2009;69: 5296–300.
- Sternlicht MD, Werb Z. How matrix metalloproteinases regulate cell behavior. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2001;17:463–516.
- Synowitz M, Glass R, F\u00e4rber K, Markovic D, Kronenberg G, et al. A1 adenosine receptors in microglia control glioblastoma-host interaction. Cancer Res 2006;66:8550–7.
- Takano S, Yamashita T, Ohneda O. Molecular Therapeutic Targets for Glioma Angiogenesis. J Oncol 2010. doi:10.1155/2010/351908.
- Teodorczyk M, Martin-Villalba A. Sensing Invasion: Cell Surface Receptors Driving Spreading of Glioblastoma. J Cell Physiol 2010;222:1–10.
- Tirino V, Desiderio V, d'Aquino R, De Francesco F, Pirozzi G, Graziano A, et al. Detection and characterization of CD133+ cancer stem cells in human solid tumours. PLoS One 2008;3:3469.
- Tsai JC, Goldman CK, Gillespie GY. Vascular endothelial growth factor in human glioma cell lines: induced secretion by EGF, PDGF-BB, and bFGF. J Neurosurg 1995;82: 864–73.
- Uhm JH, Gladson CL, Rao JS. The role of integrins in the malignant phenotype of gliomas. Front Biosci 1999;4:188–99.

- VanMeter TE, Rooprai HK, Kibble MM, Filmore HL, Broaddus WC, Pilkington GJ. The role of matrix metalloproteinase genes in glioma invasion: co-dependent and interactive proteolysis. J Neurooncol 2001;53:213–35.
- Vajkoczy P, Menger MD. Vascular microenvironment in gliomas. Cancer Treat Res 2004;17:249–62.
- Varlet P, Soni D, Miquel C, Roux FX, Meder JF, Chneiweiss H, et al. New variants of malignants glioneuronaltumors: clinicopathological study of 40 cases. Neurosurgery 2004;55:1377–92.
- Verhoeff JJ, van Tellingen O, Claes A, Stalpers LJ, van Linde ME, Richel DJ, et al. Concerns about anti-angiogenic treatment in patients with glioblastoma multiforme. BMC Cancer 2009;16:444-53.
- Weller M. Angiogenesis in glioblastoma: just another moving target? Brain 2010;133: 955–6.
- Wei J, Barr J, Kong LY, Wang Y, Wu A, Sharma AK, et al. Glioma-associated cancerinitiating cells induce immunosuprression. Clin Cancer Res 2010;2:461–73.
- Wicha MS, Liu S, Dontu G. Cancer stem cells: an old idea a paradigm shift. Cancer Res 2006;66:1883–90.

- Wick W, Platten M, Weller M. Glioma cell invasion: regulation of metalloproteinase activity by TGF- β . J Neuro Oncol 2001;53:177–85.
- Wolf K, Friedl P. Molecular mechanisms of cancer cell invasion and plasticity. Br J Dermatol 2006;154:11–5.
- Yang I, Aghi MK. New advances that enable identification of glioblastoma recurrence. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2009;6:648–57.
- Yang I, Han SJ, Kaur G, Crane C, Parsa AT. The role of microglia in central nervous system immunity and glioma immunology. J Clin Neurosci 2010;17:6–10.
- Yu Q, Stamenkovic I. Cell surface-localized matrix metalloproteinase-9 proteolytically activates TGF-beta and promotes tumor invasion and angiogenesis. Genes Dev 2000;14:163–76.
- Zagzag D, Amirnovin R, Greco MA, Yee H, Holash J, Wiegand SJ, et al. Vascular apoptosis and involution in gliomas precede neovascularization: a novel concept for glioma growth and angiogenesis. Lab Invest 2000;80:837–49.
- Zhao Y, Xiao A, Dipierro CG, Abdel-Fattah R, Amos S, Redpath GT, et al. H-Ras increases urokinase expression and cell invasion in genetically modified human astrocytes through Ras/Raf/MEK signaling pathway. Glia 2008;56:917–24.